1958

## State of Utah v. Leamon George : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

**STATEMENT OF FACTS**

**This is an Appeal from the Judgment of the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, the Honorable Stewart M. Hanson presiding (R. 122).**

**The Appellant, Leamon George, was arrested in Ogden, Weber County, Utah, on or about the 10th day of June, 1957 (R. 120). Verle**

L. Butler, a grocery clerk at the Day & Night Market, (R 14), was called to Ogden in the early morning of Monday, June 10th to see if the Appellant was the one who had held up the store on the morning of the 5th of June, 1957 (R. 22).

Witness Butler identified the Appellant as the one who held up the store, without being confronted with any other persons of similar characteristics, and without the Appellant having the benefit of a police lineup (R . 22).

The Appellant returned to Salt Lake City in the same automobile with State's witness Butler (R. 23).

Later that same afternoon, (R. 23), the Appellant was identified by witness Butler (R. 24), and by witness Richard J. Veenendaal (R. 42), at a lineup with two other negroes and a Mexican. Witness Veenendaal and witness Butler were not

separated at this lineup (R. 42).

On June 10, 1957 a complaint was filed charging defendant with a crime of robbery (R. 2). On June 11th Appellant was brought before the City Court and bail was set (R. 2). On July 30, 1957 the City Court ordered Appellant bound over to the District Court for trial (R. 2).

Defendant filed a Notice of Alibi on the 30th day of August, 1957 (R. 9). The trial was held on the 8th day of September, 1957 in the District Court of Salt Lake County (R. 11). At the trial three witnesses were called by the State: Verle L. Butler, Richard J. Veenendaal and A. J. Grenoble. Two witnesses testified in behalf of the Appellant's alibi, Cornelia C. Johnson and J. L. Carter. It was agreed between the State and defense counsel that Mildred Carter's testimony would have been the same as the witness, Jerry Carter (R. 39).

Witness Cornelia C. Johnson testified that



Appellant resided with her at 303 Post Street in Salt Lake City, Utah (R. 57). She testified that Appellant was at her home during the evening preceding, and during all of the morning in which the robbery was alleged to have taken place (R. 58). Mrs. Johnson's testimony was not merely an assumption on her part that appellant was at her home, but she states that there was a party at her home that evening which allowed her to recall the event more vividly (R. 61, 62). She stated that she had to get up three or four times that evening because they were noisy (R. 63). She testified that the appellant was asleep and carried to his bed around three or three thirty in the morning of the alleged robbery (R. 64).

Witness Butler testified that the robber was in the store at five minutes to three or three , 15 (R. 13).



Defense witness J. L. Carter testified that he was acquainted with the Appellant (R. 84). He testified that he played cards with the Appellant and others at 502 Post Street on the morning of the robbery (R. 86). He stated that appellant passed out from drunkenness and was carried to bed (R. 86).

Because of an inability to serve subpoenas, two other eye witnesses as to defendant's alibi of being at another place at the time of the robbery were not present at the trial. These witnesses are: Milo Savage, who was out of town at the time of trial (R. 118), and Mildred Carter (R. 116).

Appellant was found guilty of the crime of robbery by verdict of the jury dated September 9, 1937 (R. 114). Appellant filed a motion for new trial on the 13th day of September, 1937 (R. 119), which was denied on October 3, 1937 (R. 121a).

Appellant was committed to the Utah State Prison

on October 11th, 1957 (R. 122). Appellant filed Notice of Appeal on the 29th day of October, 1957 (R. 125).

### STATEMENT OF POINTS

There was insufficient evidence to allow submission of Appellant's guilt to the jury, and to justify a verdict of guilty because:

**1. THE TWO STATE'S EYE WITNESSES FAILED TO PROPERLY IDENTIFY THE APPELLANT AS THE ONE WHO COMMITTED THE ROBBERY, IN THAT:**

**(a) THE PROCEDURE IN WHICH THE APPELLANT WAS FIRST CONFRONTED WITH THE EYE WITNESSES WAS IMPROPER AND WOULD LEAD ITSELF TO FAULTY IDENTIFICATION;**

**(b) THEIR IDENTIFICATION OF THE**

APPELLANT WAS NOT BASED UPON  
SUFFICIENT KNOWLEDGE; and

(c) THEIR IDENTIFICATION WAS NOT  
AN IDENTIFICATION, BUT MERELY  
AN ASSERTION THAT THE APPELLANT  
LOOKED LIKE THE INDIVIDUAL WHO  
COMMITTED THE CRIME.

II. THE 46 CALIBER AUTOMATIC RIFLE  
WAS IMPROPERLY ADMITTED INTO  
EVIDENCE IN THAT IT WAS NEVER IDENTI-  
FIED OR CONNECTED WITH THE APPELLANT.

### ARGUMENT

I. THE TWO STIPULATED EYE WITNESSES FAILED  
TO PROPERLY IDENTIFY THE APPELLANT  
AS THE ONE WHO COMMITTED THE ROBBERY,  
IN THAT:

(a) THE PROCEDURE IN WHICH THE

APPELLANT WAS FIRST CONFRONTED  
WITH THE LYF WITNESSES WAS  
INTERFERED AND WOULD LEAD ITSELF  
TO FAULTY IDENTIFICATION;

Appellant is aware of the rule that an eye  
witness' identification is sufficient to convict an  
accused of a crime. Appellant does not take  
exception to this rule, nor seeks to distinguish  
this rule. Appellant does contend, however, that  
he was not identified by either of the witnesses  
called by the State.

In Volume No. 3 of his Treatise on  
Evidence, Professor Wigmore in Section 786,  
at page 182 states:

In identifying persons or material  
objects, it is of course more effective  
if the thing to be identified is so placed  
with others that the witnesses' selection  
appears to be unaided."

**In Section 786 A, Professor Wigmore continues:**

**"Some of the most tragic miscarriages of justice have been due to testimonial errors in this field, the error being chiefly due to imperfect Recollection, with the occasional further complication of defective Perception and of Suggestion."**

**In discussing the technique for identification of accused persons, Professor Wigmore suggests that when presenting the accused for recognition he should be presented in company with a dozen others of not too dissimilar personalities (Volume 3, page 184). It is to be noted from the record in this appeal that State's witness Butler first pointed out Appellant while no other possible suspects were around. The method was stated by Mr. Butler as follows:**

**It would have been the next Monday morning after the robbery. It was my night off. I was home in bed, and the Police Department called me and asked if I would go up to Ogden with them to**



see if a man they had up there was the man who held up the store, which I did. And when we got up there I saw this man that held up the store up there in custody." (R. 22)

and;

"Q. And what happened after you saw Mr. George in Ogden?"

A. Well, he rode back to Salt Lake in a car with us, with myself and the two policemen, and then they took me home, and the next time I saw him was in the lineup that afternoon." (R. 22, and 23)

The Appellant did not have the advantage of anyone of similar characteristics or even dissimilar characteristics, standing by him when he was initially pointed out by witness Butler. Professor Wigmore states that at least a dozen persons of not too dissimilar personalities should be presented in company with the accused. Appellant had none.

State's witness Veenendaal did have to

decide between the Appellant and two other negroes. However, he had the assistance of witness Butler in pointing out the Appellant.

Line 16 of page 23 and line 2 of page 42 of the record show that Mr. Veenendaal and Mr. Butler, the two witnesses, were together at the only lineup of Appellant.

The following is a summary of objections which can be made to the method and procedure of initially linking the Appellant with the crime charged:

1. State's witness Butler was allowed to see the Appellant, without his being paraded with other persons in a lineup.

2. The Appellant was not placed among persons who were as far as possible of the same age, height, general appearance and color in



a lineup, when witness Butler just pointed him out.

3. The witnesses Butler and Veenendaal were together while waiting to see the accused paraded with the other two negroes at the lineup in which witness Veenendaal pointed out the Appellant.

This procedure casts grave doubt upon the usefulness of the testimony of witness Butler and Veenendaal, because of the errors possible due to imperfect recollection, defective perception, and the possibilities of suggestion.

1. THE TWO STATE'S EYE WITNESSES FAILED TO PROPERLY IDENTIFY THE APPELLANT AS THE ONE WHO COMMITTED THE ROBBERY IN THAT:

(a) THEIR IDENTIFICATION OF THE

**APPELLANT WAS NOT BASED UPON  
SUFFICIENT KNOWLEDGE.**

The record in this case shows that the State's witnesses could testify as to little more than the fact that the Appellant looked like the person who held up the Day & Night Market. At page 21, line 4 of the record, State's witness Butler was asked on direct examination:

**"Q. Did you observe any unusual marks or characteristics?"**

**A. No."**

On cross-examination witness Butler answered the following questions:

**"Q. Now, can you give us some more detail as to the exact color of this person that held you up?"**

**A. Well, he was brown, but I can't say what shade of brown." (Page 30, line 23)**

**"Q. What kind of face did this hold-up man have? Was it brown, long, wide?"**

A. I wouldn't say it was any longer, wider, or rounder than a normal face. Just average shaped face." (Page 31, line 8).

The testimony of State's witness Veenendaal was no more helpful in identifying Appellant as the one who committed the robbery.

At page 30, line 15, witness Veenendaal was asked:

Q. What type of hair did that person have?

A. He had short, black, choppy hair.

Q. What nationality or race was he?

A. He was from the Negro race.

Q. The person you saw at that time, when you say he was of the Negro race, what type of Negro would you say that would be for coloring?

A. He was a dark type.

Q. Was he tall or short?

A. He was about five feet six, seven."

At page 30, line 1, the prosecuting attorney

asked witness Veenendaal:

"Q. Did you look for any identifying features at that time?"

A. Yes. He didn't have any scars or anything on him that would identify him."

On cross-examination witness Veenendaal was asked:

"Q. Do you know that there are Negroes around here now of his general size and color and build?"

A. I could only assume that there are some." (R. 45, line 18)

and:

"Q. The only thing, the distinguishing mark that you can point out about this fellow that you saw in the Day and Night Market on June 5th is that he had a dark skin, and I believe you said something about his hair. What was that about his hair?"

A. Short, choppy hair.

Q. You have seen many Negroes with short, choppy hair, haven't you?

A. Yes, I have.

Q. And you have seen many Negroes with dark skin?

A. Yes, I have." (R. 45, line 25 and R. 46, line 1).

Thus, it is to be seen from the record that neither of the State's witnesses had any particular or specific trait, custom, or characteristic that they relied upon in saying that the Appellant was the one who had robbed the store. Their description of him was always in general terms, and he being one of average weight, height, characteristics and color, for his particular race, their description would fit any number of people who would be of similar characteristics.

# I. THE TWO STATE'S EYE WITNESSES FAILED TO PROPERLY IDENTIFY THE APPELLANT AS THE ONE WHO COMMITTED

**(c) THEIR IDENTIFICATION WAS NOT AN IDENTIFICATION, BUT MERELY AN ASSERTION THAT THE APPELLANT LOOKED LIKE THE INDIVIDUAL WHO COMMITTED THE CRIME.**

**The record speaks for itself as to this point.**

**At line 17 of page 31 witness Butler testified:**

**Q. And at that time this defendant looked like the man who had held up your store?**

**A. Yes.**

**Q. And that is about all you can say now, that he looks like that man?**

**A. Why, yes.\***

**And at line 38 of page 46 witness Voennendaal testified:**

**Q. So the truth is, the best you can say is that this defendant looks like the man you saw in this store that night, isn't it?**



A. Very close to him, yes.

Q. What was that? I didn't get your answer?

(The last answer was read by the reporter.)

A. Yes, he does look very, very similar to him."

## **II. THE .45 CALIBER AUTOMATIC PISTOL WAS IMPROPERLY ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE IN THAT IT WAS NEVER IDENTI- FIED OR CONNECTED WITH THE APPELLANT.**

One of the basic rules of evidence is that an object must be properly authenticated prior to being admitted into evidence.

The principle of authentication requires that some evidence connecting the object with the accused be introduced before or at the time of introducing the object itself. That such an

**error in admitting an object without proper**



authentication is highly prejudicial to the rights of an accused, is pointed out by Professor Wigmore in Volume No. 4 of his Treatise on Evidence, Section 1167, page 251. Professor Wigmore points out two reasons why such evidence is objectionable:

"First, there is a natural tendency to infer from the mere production of any material object, and without further evidence, the truth of all that is predicated of it. Secondly, the sight of deadly weapons or of cruel injuries tends to overwhelm reason and to associate the accused with the atrocity without sufficient evidence." (Ibid, page 254).

In Volume 7, Section 2129, at page 365.

Professor Wigmore states:

"Now, beyond all this, there is a general mental tendency when a corporeal object is produced as proving something, to assume, on sight of the object, all else that is implied in the case about it. The sight of it seems to prove all the rest. Thus, it is easy for a jury, when witnesses speak of a horse being stolen from Doe by

Roe, to understand, when Doe is proved to have lost the horse, that it still remains to be proved that Roe took it; the missing element can clearly be kept separate as an additional requirement. But if the witness to the theft were to have to have a horse brought into the court room, and to point it out triumphantly, 'If you doubt me, there is the very horse!', this would go a great way to persuade the jury of the rest of his assertion and to ignore the weakness of his evidence of Roe's complicity. The sight of the horse, corroborating in the flesh, as it were, a part of the witness' testimony, tends to verify the remainder.

This tendency, illogical though it may be, is deeply rooted in all persons, even the most intelligent and reflective; \*\*\*."

In support of the above proposition the Utah case of *State v. Aikers, et al*, 87 Utah 507, 51 P. 2d 1052, is cited. In the Aikers case the gun was held to have been properly admitted into evidence. However, it is to be noted that the gun was properly identified as belonging to one of the defendants. The Supreme Court stated in that case at page 1058 of 51 P. 2d:

**"The objection was properly overruled, since it would be necessary to identify the exhibit and connect it with one or both of the defendants before it could be received in evidence."**

**Thus it can be seen that Utah has accepted the universal rule that such incriminating evidence must be identified and connected with the defendant before it is admissible in evidence.**

**The record in this case is completely bare of any testimony whatsoever connecting the Appellant with the 45 Caliber Semi-Automatic Pistol admitted into evidence. The most that can be found in the record are statements by the State's witnesses that the pistol is the type that was probably used by the person committing the robbery. For instance, at page 33, line 4 of the record the gun was marked Exhibit P-1 for identification after the following testimony:**

**"Q. (By Mr. Child) I would like you to examine what has been marked as Exhibit P-1, and tell us, if you will,**

if you have seen this before?" (The gun referred to was marked "Exhibit P-1" for identification.)

"A. Well, I don't know whether I have actually seen this gun or not, but it was one substantially identical to it.

Q. To what?

A. That the hold-up man was holding at me, pointing at me."

The highly prejudicial nature of this exhibit cannot be denied. As Professor Wigmore has pointed out, the reasonable, but illogical inference in the minds of a jury arising from the sight of such a weapon is that the Appellant used this weapon. This inference is made while overlooking the fact that no connection between the gun and the Appellant has been shown.

It is to be noted that no objection was made at the trial to the admission of the pistol. If this had been the only irregularity it might well



he found that it did not constitute reversible error. But, coupled with the lack of a proper identification of the accused, the wrongful admission of the pistol into evidence tends to further implicate the Appellant with the crime. Though the jury may not have relied on the testimony of the two State witnesses, they may well have found the Appellant guilty by relying upon their testimony, bolstered by the presence of the pistol.

### CONCLUSION

The evidence in this case did not justify submission of Appellant's guilt to the jury, or a verdict of guilty.

While it is true that two State witnesses pointed out the Appellant as the one committing the robbery, they could point to nothing distinguishing about the Appellant. The most they

could say was that the Appellant looked like the one who committed the crime.

Coupled with the lack of identifying characteristic is the method in which the Appellant was first pointed out by both witnesses. As to the first witness, Butler, the Appellant was confronted with no other persons of similar or dissimilar characteristics. Witness Butler merely had to look at the Appellant and say he was the one -- not being required to pick the Appellant from anyone else. Witness Veenendaal pointed out the Appellant in a lineup consisting of only two other Negroes, with witness Butler in his presence. The pointing out of the Appellant in the court room is of little force, after all that intervened, it would seldom happen that the witnesses would not have come to believe in the Appellant's identity.

In addition, the admission of the 45 Caliber

Pistol into evidence without it being linked with the Appellant, was highly prejudicial. It allowed the jury to make the reasonable, but illogical, inference that the Appellant used this weapon. The sight of the weapon allowed the jury to assume all else that is implied in the case about it. Appellant was thus associated with the crime by the admission of the pistol, without the pistol ever being associated with the Appellant.

The conviction in the court below should be set aside, and a new trial granted Appellant, or in the alternative, that the conviction be reversed and Appellant set free.