1958

State of Utah v. Leamon George : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 9, 1957, the jury impanelled to sit at the trial of the appellant returned a verdict of guilty of the crime of robbery (R. 114).

The State's first witness at that trial, Verle L. Butler, testified that during the early morning hours of June 5, 1957, while employed as a grocery clerk at the Day and Night Market (R. 14), he was accosted by a man with a gun (R. 17). The robber was later identified as the appellant by Mr. Butler (R. 16, 22). The robber first approached

Butler saying he wanted to buy a package of cigarettes. He reached for his wallet but rather than taking money from it to pay for the cigarettes, he extracted several papers, one of which he handed to the witness Butler with the command to "read the note" (R. 17). The note said, "This is a hold-up" (R. 18). He ordered Butler to empty the cash from two cash registers into a paper sack, (R. 18), and Butler did so because he was afraid that if he didn't he would be shot or otherwise harmed (R. 53). During this exchange, Butler and the robber were only three feet apart (R. 18). Because of the circumstances, he took special note of the man's features and clothing (R. 21).

While Butler was filling the paper sack with the money from the cash registers, another person, Mr. Veenendaal, started to enter the store. The robber, noticing Veenendaal, commanded him to stand outside the door (R. 19), but changing his mind a moment later, told him to come in the store and stand behind him (R. 20). This Veenendaal did. After Butler had put all the bills in the sack, the robber said "That's enough. I'm leaving. Put the note in the sack" (R. 20). With the money sack in hand, the robber left the store, turned to the right and disappeared (R. 20).

While the robber was in the store, Butler observed his features and saw that there was no unusual marks or characteristics, and also listened carefully to his voice (R. 21). He testified that the gun which the robber used was a 45 caliber semi-automatic hand gun (R. 22).

The Monday following the robbery, July 10, 1957, a police officer called Butler and asked him to go to Ogden to

see if he could identify a man being held in custody as the robber of the Day and Night Market (R. 22). In Ogden the appellant was positively identified by Butler as the robber (R. 22).

The afternoon of that same day, June 10th, Butler was present at a police lineup in the Salt Lake Police Station in which the appellant appeared. In the lineup were two other Negroes, the appellant and a Mexican. Out of this group the appellant was identified as the robber (R. 23).

The State's next witness, Richard Veenendaal, testified that during the early hours of June 5, 1957, at approximately 3 o'clock a. m., he was in the Day and Night Market. Just as he started to enter the store, he noticed a man standing at the counter with a gun in his hand, who turned to him and said "That is far enough. Stay right there" (R. 36). In obedience to the armed man's command, Veenendaal stopped just outside the door to the store, no more than three feet away from the armed man (R. 36). Veenendaal testified that the store was well lighted, and, he was therefore able to carefully observe the armed man. A moment later Veenendaal was told to come inside the store and stand by the magazine rack (R. 38); this he did, and being only five feet away from the armed man, had ample opportunity to again study his appearance (R. 38, 40). Veenendaal testified that the gun used by the robber was an Army 45 (R. 41).

A gun similar to the one used by the robber was offered into evidence for illustrative purposes, there being no ob-

jection raised by appellant's attorney, it was received (R. 41).

About a week later in a lineup at the Police Station, Veenendaal again saw the appellant and identified him (R. 42), and during the trial, he positively identified the appellant as the robber (R. 43).

The next witness called on behalf of the State was H. A. Orencole, who testified that, as a Salt Lake police officer, he arranged for a lineup to be held at 1 o'clock on June 10, 1957, in which he had three colored men and one Mexican man (R. 50). At the time of the lineup he had each individual in the lineup speak, turn around and otherwise show himself (R. 50).

The defense produced two witnesses, who testified as follows:

Cornelia C. Johnson, the first witness, testified that she was acquainted with the appellant and that during the first part of June, 1957, he was a roomer in her home (R. 57). She testified that during the early morning hours of June 5, 1957, the appellant was in her home and was engaged in a card game with witness's daughter, son-in-law and another roomer. She testified that around 2:30 she observed the defendant lying on the floor drunk (R. 63).

The next witness called by defense was Jerry L. Carter, Jr., who testified to substantially the same facts as did Mrs. Johnson, but added that he helped carry the appellant up to his bed at approximately 2:30 or 3 o'clock on the morning of June 5th and that it was necessary to carry him to his bed because he had passed out (R. 86).

Because the next witness for the defense would testify to the same facts as had Jerry L. Carter, counsel for the State and defendant stipulated that her testimony would be the same as the previous witness, and the jury was instructed by the Court that if the witness were to testify she would have testified to the same facts, and that "She has in effect by this stipulation testified" (R. 99).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE STATE'S WITNESS IDENTIFIED THE APPELLANT IN OPEN COURT AND THE SUFFICIENCY OF SUCH IDENTIFICATION IS A MATTER FOR THE JURY TO DETERMINE.

POINT II.

OBJECTION TO THE ADMISSION INTO EVIDENCE OF THE 45 CALIBER AUTOMATIC PISTOL CANNOT NOW BE RAISED SINCE COUNSEL DID NOT OBJECT TO ITS ADMISSION DURING TRIAL.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE STATE'S WITNESS IDENTIFIED THE APPELLANT IN OPEN COURT AND THE SUFFICIENCY OF SUCH IDENTIFICATION IS A MATTER FOR THE JURY TO DETERMINE.

On pages 16 and 17 of the Record appears testimony relative to the State's witnesses' identification of appellant as the robber. Mr. Child, Assistant District Attorney, in examining Mr. Butler, elicited the following information:

"Q. Have you seen him since that time?

"A. Yes.

"Q. Is he in the courtroom today?

"A. Yes.

"Q. Will you point him out for the jury please?

"A. The gentleman to the right of Mr.—

"Q. Mr. Oliver?

"A. Oliver.

"THE COURT: You mean 'left,' don't you?

"THE WITNESS: To my right.

"Q. (By Mr. Child) To your right. Would that be to Mr. Oliver's left?

"A. Yes.

MR. CHILD: May the record show that the witness has indicated the defendant, Leamon George?

"THE COURT: It may so indicate.

"Q. (By Mr. Child) Mr. Butler, upon Mr. George's entering the store, can you tell us what happened?

"A. Well, he came in the store. This other fellow was still in there, and he just kind of walked around looking at various shelves, and so forth, until this other fellow had left.

"Q. And then what happened?

"A. Then he came to the counter and asked me for a pack of Pall Mall cigarettes, which I got for

him. He reached for his wallet to pay for them, and as he was looking for the money in his wallet he took several papers, like he had a dollar bill folded up inside the wallet. He took a bunch of papers out, laid them on the counter. He got the dollar, handed it to me. I rung up the sale and was making change and when I looked up he had a gun pointing at me and said, 'Read the note.'

"While I was ringing up the sale and getting the change he put all his papers but the one back in his wallet. There was this one little white paper folded up to about a two-inch square lying on the counter. I picked up the note and read it and it said, 'This is a hold-up' " (R. 16-17).

Also, on page 22 of the Record, Butler again asserted positive identification of appellant as the robber.

"Q. When you saw that man, had you seen him before?

"A. Well, he held us up.

"Q. Have you seen him since?

"A. Yes.

"Q And who was the person in Ogden at the jail?

"A. Mr. George.

"Q. And that is the defendant in this action?

"A. Yes" (R. 22).

Mr. Veenendaal, positively identified the appellant as the robber. On page 43 of the Record appears the following:

"Q. And have you seen the person that held the gun on you on June 5th of this year, which you

watched take the sack with the money in it from Mr. Butler, have you seen that person today?

“A. Yes, I have.

“Q. Is he in the courtroom at the present time?

“A. Yes, he is.

“Q. Will you point him out for the jury, please?

“A. The gentleman in the cream colored suit next to Mr. Oliver.

“Q. Sitting at counsel table, to the far left of counsel table?

“A. Right.

“MR. CHILD: May the record show that the witness has indicated the defendant, Leamon George?

“THE COURT: It may so indicate” (R. 43).

Sufficiency of identification of an accused has always been held to be a question for the jury. *State v. Lanos*, 223 P. 1065, 63 Utah 151. See also: *People v. Barnett*, 323 P. 2d 96, . . . Cal. App. 2d . . . ; *People v. Weims*, 321 P. 2d 884, . . . Cal. App. 2d

Appellant contends that the evidence is insufficient to show he robbed the store. It is made to appear that appellant was not identified but that the effect of the State's witnesses' testimony was merely that he looked like the robber. This circumstance is urged as a reason why the identification was insufficient. But it is not a question of law. Whether there was any distinct characteristic that was observed or not by the witnesses were questions of fact for the jury. It certainly cannot be said that there was no substantial evidence that the appellant was the person who robbed the Market. To the contrary, the testimony of the

State's witnesses was sufficient to convince the jury that the appellant was the robber, in spite of the testimony of witnesses produced in his defense.

The question of extra-judicial identification raised by the appellant in his brief has no bearing upon the identification of appellant in court. Although the District Courts of the state have for years allowed testimony of extra-judicial identification to be admitted at trial, the Supreme Court of this state has never ruled upon this problem. Our courts have apparently adopted the rule used in California, that there is no error in admitting testimony concerning extra-judicial identification. See *People v. Hale*, 222 P. 148, 64 Cal. App. 523; *People v. Garcia*, 256 P. 876, 83 Cal. App. 463.

There are very few cases in Utah concerned with the problem of identification. Other than the *Lanos* case above cited, the only other two that the writer could find were *State v. Karas*, 136 P. 788, 43 Utah 506, and *State v. Kilpatrick, et al.*, 173 P. 2d 284, 110 Utah 355. Both cases concern the identification of the accused by his voice rather than by physical appearance, and in both cases the identification made by the State's witness was held to be sufficient. In the *Kilpatrick* case, it was not even required that the identifier be familiar with the voice of the person identified since the identification was spontaneous and occurred very soon after the criminal act of the accused.

It is submitted that the identification made by the State's witnesses at the trial was sufficient and any question concerning the extra-judicial identification cannot now

be raised, since the appellant failed to raise an objection to it at trial.

POINT II.

OBJECTION TO THE ADMISSION INTO EVIDENCE OF THE 45 CALIBER AUTOMATIC PISTOL CANNOT NOW BE RAISED SINCE COUNSEL DID NOT OBJECT TO ITS ADMISSION DURING TRIAL.

On pages 40 and 41 of the record appears the following, relative to the admission of the 45 caliber automatic pistol into evidence:

“Q. Did you have an opportunity to observe the gun that he was holding?

“A. Yes.

“Q. What type of gun was it?

“A. Army 45.

“Q. Are you familiar with such weapons?

“A. Yes, I am.

“Q. I will now show you what has been marked Exhibit P-1 and ask if you have seen this before?

“A. Very similar to it, same type he was holding.

“* * *

“MR. CHILD: We would offer Exhibit P-1 in evidence for illustrative purposes, Your Honor.

MR. OLIVER: There is no objection.

“THE COURT: It will be received.”

No objection was raised to the admission of the pistol into evidence. A well established rule of appeal law is that only

those questions raised and reserved during the hearing may be considered by the Appellate Court. See 3 Am. Jur. 25, Sec. 246, Appeal and Error. The rule has been thus established because it is only just to require that reversals shall not be granted upon grounds of objections which might have been obviated by a timely objection raised at trial. The claimed error in this case is of minor significance. The 45 caliber automatic pistol was submitted for illustrative purposes; only to prove one of the elements of the crime appellant had been charged with. It is submitted that inasmuch as appellant failed to raise an objection at trial, he cannot now demand the court consider the question.

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that the judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.